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DRAFT

HIGHLIGHTS OF NRC ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM
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Enforcement program seeks to protect public health and safety
by ensuring compliance and correction of violations, deter-
ring future viclations, and encouraging improvement of
licer ee performance.

Viclations are detected through inspections and investiga-
tions.

Violations are subject to civil e “orcement action and may be
subject to criminal prosecution.

Civil enforcement sanctions include: Notices of Vioclation,
civi! penalties, and orders.

Severity level of a viclation reflects the significance of the
viclation and ranges from the most significant, Severity
Level I, to the least, Severity Level V.

Civil penalties are normally issued for Severity Level III or
higher violations.

The amount of a civil penalty assessed varies with type of
licensed activity, type of licenses, severity level, and
escalation and mitigation factors.

If a civil penalty is proposed, licensee may respond by paying
or contesting the action.

If licensee protests action, staff considers response. and
either mitigates the penalty or imposes it by order.

Licensee must then pay or request an administrative hearing.
Orders may be used to modify, suspend, or revoke a license.

Orders may also address deliberate wrongdeing by individual
enployees of licensees, contractors, or others who provide
goods or services that relate to licensed activities.

An order to an individual might remove him or her from
licensed activity, require NRC notification of the indivi-
dual’s reemployment in licensed activities, or require
notification to prospective employers of the existence of an
crder.

NRC may use Demands for Information to obtain information when
considering enforcement action.
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- INTRODUCTION

As the federal agency responsible for regulating the civilian uses
Oof nuclear materials, the NRC has an extensive program with many

reguirements. These requirements are imposed on more “han 100
nuclear power plant licensees and approximately 8000 materials
licensees. The requirements are stringent and technically

demanding. Inevitably, with such an elaborate regulatory program,
viclations of requirements occur, through oversight, negl./gence,
ignorance, confusion, and, in some instances, willful misconduct.

The Commission has developad an enforcement Program that seeks to
promote and protect the public health and safety by:

. Ensuring compliance with the Atomic Energy Act, the
Energy Reorganization Act, NRC regulations, and license
conditions;

. Obtaining prompt correction of violations and adverse
quality conditions that may affect nafety;

. Detearring future violations; and

. Encouraging improvement of licensee and vendor perfor-~
mance.

The "General Statement of Folicy and Procedures fcr NRC Enforcement
Actions," (Enforcement Policy) is published as Appendix C to 10 CFR
Part 2 of the Commission’s requirements.

NRC Eaforcement Manuul u Rev. G8/13/93
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Drsposs ooung. N oncom plus nces Chapter 3

A deviation is defined as a licensee’s failure to satisfy a
written commitment or conform to the provisions of code,
standard, guide, or accepted industry practice when the
commitment, code, standard, guide, or practice involved has
not been made a legally binding requirement by *he Commission,
but 1is expected to be inplemented. Written coumitments
include statements made by the licensee providing information
on how NRC requirements will be met relative to facility'
design, construction, and operation. Examples of 'icensee
commitments include responses to bulletins, generic latters,
or 10 CFR 50.54(f) reguests. Although the failure of a
reactor licensee to meet a commitment in the final safety
analysis report (FSAR) may constitute a deviation, the failure
may also be a violation of 10 CFR S$0.59 Or a violation of a
technical specification, a general design criteria, or a
quality assurance reguirement. Refer to Section 8.2.31 for
additiconal guidance on this subject.

A noncoaformance is defined as a vendor’‘s or certificate

holder’s failure to meet contract requirenents related to NRC
activities (e.g., 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B) where the NRC
has not placed regquirements directly on the vendor or certi-
ficate holder.

3.5 Safety Significance & Severity Level

Once the circumstances surrounding a viclation are understood, the
preliminary safety significance of the violation should be assessed
and the commensurate severity level determined. The resulting
preliminary severity level categorization will help to determine
whether the issue should be addressed as non-escalated or escalated
enforcement action or w-ether it should be addressed under
enforcement discretion as an NCV.

a. Safety significance, as used in the enforcement program, involves

consideration of three factors: (1) the actual safety
consequence (e.g., overexposure, offsite release, loss of
safety system), (2) the regulatory significance, and (3) the
potential safety conseguence of a viclation. In other words,
consideration is given to the matter as a whole in light of
the circumstances surrounding the violation. There may be
cases where the actual safety consequence of a violation
represents a minor concern but the regulatory significance or
the potential safety consequence represents a significant
concern. For example, the failure of an auxiliary operator to
perform a required surveillance for a Piece cf equipment may
not result in an actual safety consequence. Howvever, if the
Operator’s failure represents a repetitive occurrence, the
repetitive nature of the failure could represent a significant
regulatory concern that could elevate the overall safety

NRC Enforcemant Manual 32 Rev. 08/13/9)
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significance of the violation. Similarly, a viclation that
does not result in an actual safety consequence but which had
the potential to impact the public health and safecty may
(depending upon the likelihood and the possible conseguences
involved) represent a significant safety concern.

Severity level, as used in the enforcement program, involves

consideration of the safety significance of a violation and
categcrization at one of five levels. Severity Level I and II
viclations are the most uaignificant and represent very
significant regulatory concerns for which escalated enforce-
ment action is normally taken. Severity Level III violations
are cause for significant regulatory concern for which
escalated enforcement action is also normally taken. Severity
Level IV vioclations a-= less ser ous than Severity Level III
viclations, but are of more than minor concern. If repeti~
tive, a Severity Level IV viclation could result in escalated
enforcement action. Severity Level V violations are of minor
safety concern.

Factors that may warrant an adjustment to the severity level
categorizati: . include, but are not limited to, whether the
viclations represent a programmatic problem, whether the
violations are repetitive, and whether the violations are
willful. These considerations, as well as severity level
categorization for violations of reporting requirements, are
addressed in Sections 3.5.2, 3.%.3, 3.5.4, and 1.5.5, respec-
tively.

Cases where more than one severity level adjustment factor is
applicable (i.e., a programmatic problem with willful aspests)
will be considered on 1 case-by-case basis. In determining
whether to escalate the severity level once or twice for the
factors, consideration will be given to whether each of the
factors independently would warrant escalation or if the twe
{actors stem from the same underlying concern. The final
severity level categorization should represent the agency'’'s
level of concern for the vioclation. Whether the severity
level is escalated once or twice, the cover letter transmit-
ting the enforcement action to the licensee should address the
staff’s consideration of the factors and should convey the
agency’s concern.

3.5.1 Use of Supplements in the Enforcement Policy

Supplemants I through VIII of the Enforcement Policy provide
examples of viclations in eight different activity areas and
serve as guidance for determining severity levels. However,
the examples are neither exhaustive nor controlling. If a
violation fits an example contained in a supplement, it should
normally be evaluated at that severity level. If, however,

NRC Eaforcement Manual 3-8 Rev. 68/13/93



the region believes that a different severity level categori-
zation is warranted and the circumstances are not addressed by.
this Manual, the region should either explain the rationale in
the Enforcement Action Recommendation Worksheet when the case
is sent to headguarters, or consult with OF pPrior to issuing
the enforcement action in the region. If the staff chooses to
categorize a violation at a different severity level than the
examples in the supplements, the cover letter to the licensee .
should address the staff’s rationale for categorizing the
severity level. If a violation does not fit an example in the
supplements, it should be assigned a severity level commensu-
rate with its safety significance. Additional guidance on
severity level categorization for the different activity areas
is addressed in Chapter 8.

3.5.2 Aggregaiion of Violations

Aggregation of violations and sevesity level categorizatior
are addressed in Section IV.A of the Enforcement Policy. A
group of Severity Level IV violations may be evaluated in the
aggregate and assigned a single, increased severity lavel,
thereby representing a Severity Level III problem, if the
viclations reflect the same underlying cause or programmatic
deficiencies, or the violations contributed to or were
unavoidable consegquences of the underlying problem. Thus, the
mere existence of numerous viclations is not justification for
aggregation. The purpose of aggregating violations is to
focus the licensee’s zttention on the fundamental underlying
Cause or concern for vhich enforcement action appears warrant-
ed and to reflect the fact that several violations with a
common cause or representing a commor concern may be more
significant collectively than individually and may, therefcre,
warrant a more substantial enforcement action.

a. Notwithstanding a common root cause or area of concern,
Severity Level III violations should not normally be
dggregated to a single Severity Level III problem. The
preferable approach would be to either cite each Severity
Level III vicolation with a separate civil penalty, if
appropriate, or cite one Severity Level III violation and
consider escalating the base civil penalty based on
multiple occurrences of the violation. 1In either case,
the cover letter to the licensee should emphasize the
message that all the viclations have the same root cause
Or represent the same underlying safety concern.

NRC Eaforcement Manual 3-54 Rev. 08/13/93



b. A Severity Level III violation should not normally be
combined with Severity Level IV violations and aggregated
into a Severity Level III problem. This approach dilutes
the significance of the Severity Level III violation.
The preferable approach woulil be to cite the Severity
Level III viclation separately and either aggregate the
remaining Severity Level IV violations into a Severity
Level III problem, if appropriate, or cite the remaining
Severity Level IV violations separately. In either case,
the cover letter to the licensce should still emphasize
the message that all the viclations have the same root
Causs or represent the same underlying safety concern.

e, Severity Level IV and V violations should not be aggre-
gated into a Severity Level IV problem, nor should
Severity Level I, II and III violations be aggregated
into a Severity Level I or Il problem.

d. Each of the supplements to the Enforcement Policy
contains an example that is applicable te grouping
violations into a Severity Level III problem based on a
brezkdown in control of licensed activities. Note that
the supplements refer to a breakdown in control of
"licensed activities®™ and not in management control. The
term “"management breakdown"™ should only be applied in
cases vhare there is evicence that justifies a management
problem, such as violaticns caused by lack of training,
procedures, audits, or supervision. For example, a large
number of violations caused by one individual may
represent a breakdown in control of licensed activitius
justifying §, Severity Level III problem, but not neces-
sarily reprasent a management bresakdown.

.. Viclations that are aggregated should be referred to as
a single Severity Level III problem in both the letter to
the licensee and the citation. If a civil penalty is
proposed for the problem, it should be referred to as a
single civil penalty. The cover letter and tha citation
should not spe~ify the number of viclations being
aggregated.

f. Aggregation of vinlations for severity level should not
be confused with the use of multiple examples in NOVs or
the use of the multiple occurrences civil penalty
adjustment lactor for the escalation of a base civil
penalty.

NRC Eaforcement Manual 3-88 Rev. 08/13/93



should be used for this purpose. Unless prior approval
is given by the Director, OE, or unless the licensee
waives receipt of the inspection report, the licensee is
to receive the inspect.on report prior to the enforcement
conference.

b. Aiter the enforcement conference date and time has been
set, the region should promptly notify OE, the appropri=-:
ate program office, and OI (if applicable). The regiocn
should highlight any novel or complex cases for the
attention of the Director, OE.

c. The region should issue an enforcement conference meeting
notice in accordance with regional procedures. The
meeting notice should refer to the issues as "apparent
viclations" (versus "violations").

5.3.3 Attendance at Enforcement Conferences

This section provides specific guidance concerning attendance
at enforcement conferences, including: NRC personnel
(Section 5.3.3.1), licenses personnel (Section $.3.3.2),
media and membears of the public (Section 5.3.3.3), and State
government personnel (Section 5.3.3.4).

5.3.3.1 NRC Personnel

NRC personnel should attend enforcement conferences
according to the following guidelines:

The Regional Administrator should determine region=-
al staff attendance at enforcement conferences.
The region should be sensitive to the potential
impact on a conference when the number of NRC
attendees is significantly greater than the number
©f licensee attendees. Each NRC attendee should be
serving a specific purpose.

NRC Eaforcemen: Manual 585 Rev, 08/13/93
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The region should discuss with tne cognizant OEF
enforcement specialist or the Director, OF whether
the issues warrant OFE attendance at the eni'orcement
conference. This will improve communication and
minimize potential disagreements or inconsistencies
in the enforcement actions. OE staff should attend
all significant enforcement conferences, e.ther in

person or by telephone conferencu.

If the Regional Administrator believes that OE
telephone participation would make a particular
¢ ‘nference less effective, OF should be notitied at
i=ast one week in advance so that travel zrrange-
ments can %»e made. If OE plans to ~ctend the
conference in person or by telephone, the region
must send OE the inspection report and any addi-
ticnal relevant information prior to ths enfsrce-
ment conference. Inspection reports should normal-
ly be sent to OE the same time the region sencs it
to the licensee.

NRR/NMSS project managers should attend enforcenent
confersnces as deenmed appropriate by the program
office, or as requested by the region.

Additional program office designees (NRR/NMSS
technical staff) may attend enforcement conferences
as deened 2ppropriate by the program office, or as
requestaed by the region.

OGC should attend those conferences involving
complex or novel issues or those involving a com-
plex or significant OI investijation.

OI should be invited to attend those enforcement
conferences that involve a complex or significant
OI investigation, or those that could potentially
result in an OI referral for investigation.

£.3.3.2 Licensee Personnel

Licensee personnel should attend enforcement conferences
accourding to the following guidelines:

The region should request that licc.see attendance
include senior level managers and individuals
prepared to address the circumstances of the appar~-
ent viclations and the corrective actions.

Rev. 08/13/%3



b. When an individual’s significant personal error
contributed to the viclation, consideration should
be given to that person’s attendance at the licen-
see’s enforcement conference. It may be beneficial
for VRC management to hsar first-hand the indivi-
dual’s explanation for the actions taken, to get a
more complete understanding of the violation cir-
cumstances. » .

- When enforcement action againsc¢ individuals is
contemplated, the opportunity should normally be
provided for a specific enforcement conference with
the individual.

5.3.3.3 Media and Members of the Public

As stated in the Enforcement Policy, enforcement confer~
ences are normally closed meetings retwsen the NRC and
licensee (which includes co-owners of the facility),
except under limited circumstances when cartain State
employees may be invited or allowed to attend. This
would exclude the media and public from enforcement
conferences, although a press conference in some cases
may be held aftervards, depending on the situation.

If a licensee or soneone outside the licensee’s organiza~-
tion requests that a member of the “public™ (personnel
other than an employee, contractor, consultant, or legal
represantative) be allowed to atterd an enforcement
conference, they are to be inforsed that enforcement
conferences are normally closed meetings. The intent of
having a closed meeting is to have » candid discussion of
the causes of the violations, t! surrounding circum-
stances, and the corrective acticr ;. anned or taken. The
effectiveness of enforcement conferences could be reduced
if persons other than those from the Licensee’s organiza-
tion attend the conference, because licensees ”1y be less
than forthright in their discussions of health and safety
issues.

NRC Eoforcenent Manual 58 Rev. 08/13.93
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5§.3.3.4 State Government Personnel

Notwithstanding the policy to have closed enforcement
conferences, the Commission’s "Policy on Cooperation with
States at Commercial Nuclear Power Plants and Other
Nuclear Production or Jtilization Facilities," dated
February 15, 1989, pernits State representatives to
attend enforcement conferences if information relevant to
an enforcement action is obtained by a State representa-
tive during an inspection under a State/NRC ii'spection
agreement.

When other circumstances warrant, the Director, OE, may
authorize the Regional Administrator to permit State
personnel attendance at an enforcement conference.
Permission would be granted based on whether the State
representative could provide helpful information or
insight (¢.g., the enforcement action involves a matter
in which the State may also have a related regulatory
interest, as with natural occurring radicactive material)
or where the aenforcement action involves a general
license under 10 CFR Part 150 and arn Agreenment State her
issued a specific licensas.

If attendance by State personnel has been deemed appro-
priate, the following guidelines should be met:

a. State attendance should be from the appropriate
State office (i.e., a person from the Sate office
of operational or radiation protection safety and
not from the State rate-setting office).

b. The State attendee should be informed that partici-
pation during "the enforcement conference is not
allowed unless the State attendee was a participant
in the inspection under discussion, and then the
State attendee may only make statements related to
the arsas inspected.

. If actual safeguards infocrmation is to be dis-
cussed, State personnel may be excluded unless they
have the necesssry clearance.

d. The State zttendee must agree not to disclose the
predecisional enforcement conference details with
the media or the public.

NRC “aforcement Manusl LR ] Rev. 08/13/93



The non-disclosure arrangement between the state and NRC
should be written down in a Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) or, in its absence, a protocol agreement. This MOU
or protocol agreement should be signed by the Regicnal
Administrator, or 1is designee, and tue State attendee or
State liaison officer.

A sample protocol agreement follows:

(State) will conform to NRC practices regarding informa~
tion disclosure. (State) will abide by NRC protocel not
to disclose publicly inspection findings pricr to
official release of NRC inspection results. To preclude
the premature public release of sensitive information
(L.@., concerning matters under investigation and
security (safeguards) information), NRC and (State) will
protect sensitive information to the extent permitted by
the Federal Freedom of Information Act, 10 CPR 2.790,
and other applicable authority. (State) will consult
with NRC before releasing sensitive information to
ensure that Lts release is not premature or would not
affect an nngoing investigation or other NRC action.
NRC will inform (State) of the release of sensitive
information as appropriste. Additionally, neither NRC
nor (State) will release proprietary data until =
release is approved by the person(e) having proprietary
rights therein or until release ie approved by appropri-
ate WNC management.

Although State personnel may be permitted to be present
&t enforcement conferences under the above circumstances,
only NRC parscnnel may attend enforcement panel meetings
following the conference, unless the Director, OE, has
given prior approval for somecne other than NRC employees
to be present at an enforcement panel meeting.

5.3.4 Conduct of Enforcement Conferences

Enforcement conferences should be conducted according to the
following guidelines:

a. Enforcement conferences are normally conducted in the
regional offices. There may be special circumstances
where the agency determines that it would be beneficial
to the enforcement process to conduct the enforcement
conference at the licensee’s facility or where it would
be more practical for the agency to conduct the enforce~
nent conference by telephone. 1n these cases, the region
should consult with OE prior to scheduling the enforce-
mnent conference.

NRC Eaforcement Manual 589 Rev. 08/13/93
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The Regional Administrator should determine the appropri-
ate member of regional management to serve as the
presiding official at the enforcement conference. The
presiding official should normally be an individval above
a Division Director.

The presiding NRC official, Enforcement Coordinator, or
Enforcement Specialist should announce the meeting as an
enforcement conference, discuss the purposes of the
conference, and inform the licensex that the decision to
hold the conference does not mean that the agency has
determinec that vicolations have occurred or that enforce~
ment action will be taken.

The region should briefly discuss the apparent viclations
and explain the agency’s basis for concern (e.g., actual
safety consequence, regulatory significance, or potential
safety consequence). The level of detail to be discussed
is related to the complexity and significance of the
issues. Most of the detajiled information will have been
included in the inspection report. The discussion should
include the root causes of the apparent violations and
the corrective actions planned or taken. Corrective
actions considered by the NRC to be inadequate (or only
marginally acceptable) should be emphasized.

Although the region should address the apparent safety
significance of the issues, it should not specifically
discuss severity level categorizations, civil penalty
amounts, or the natu’e or content of any ordern If the
region chooses to use slides for any part of its presen-
tation, the slides should contain the following note:
"The apparent violatiors discussed in this enforcement
conference are subject to further review and are subject
to change prior to any resulting enforcement action."

The licensee should be encouraged to present its under-
standing of the facts and circumstances surrounding the
apparent violations and whether it agrees with the NRC’'s
understanding of the facts, the root cause(s), the safety
significance, and the immediate and long-term corrective
actions taken or planned. The licensee should also be
encouraged to present other information relevant to the
agency’s enforcement decision, such as the licensee’s
perspective on the severity of ths issue, the factors
that the NRC considers when it determines the amount of
@ civil penalty that may be assessed, and any other
factors that may warrant enforcement discretion.

Rev. 08/13/93
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The licensee should understand that the enforcement
conference is a means of providing the NRC information
necessary to determine the appropriate enforcement
action. The enforcement confearence is not a neeting to
negotiate sanctions with the staff, nor should it be used
as a forum for protracted debate. Onca the pertinent
facts have been established, the presiding official must
recognize differences of cpinion and keep the enforcement
conference productive.

The region should provide closirg renarks ard the
presiding NRC official, Enforcement Coordinater or
Enforcement Specialist should remind the licensee that
the apparent vioclations discussed are subject to further
review and are subject to change prior to any resulting
enforcement action and that the statements of views or
éxpressions of opinion made by NRC employees at the
enforcement conference, or the lack thereof, are not
final conclusions.

5.3.5 Transcribed Enforcement Conferences

Under certain circumstances, an enforcemant conference may be
transcribed. Exanples of cases vhere this might be appropri-
ate include those involving a licensed operator, a licensee
individual who may have committed a willful violation, a case
invelving material false statements, or any other case
involving an OI report. 1If the licensee or any person at the
enforcerent conference is subsequently provided a copy of the
transcript, whether by the staff’s offer or the individual’s
regquest, a copy must be placed in the NRC Public Document
Room.

OF should be consulted if ¢he region beliieves that an enforce-
ment conference should be transcribed.
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7.2.4 Coordination and Review

All cases invelving willful violations (ircluding those
invelving discretion, €.9., NCVs) require .n EA number for
tracking purposes, require OEF concurrence, :nd should be
coordinatec with 2I

7.3 Enforcement Actions Involving Individuals e

The subject of enforcement actions involving individuals is
addressed in Section VIII of the Enforcement Policy. Enforcement
actions involving individuals, including licensed operators, are
significant personnel actions that will be closely controlled and
Judiciously applied. An enforcement action involving an individual
will normally be taken only when che NRC is satisfied that the
individual fully understood, or should have understood, his or her
responsibility; knew, or should have xnown, the required actions;
and knowingly, or with careless disregard (i.e., with more than
mere negligence) failed to taka required actions which have actual
or potantial safety significance.

In addition, the NRC may take enforcement action against a licensee
that may impact an individual, where the conduct of the individual
places in guestion the NRC’s reasonable assurance that licensed
activities will be properly conducted. The NRC may take enforce~
ment action for reasons that would warrant refusal to issue a
license on an original application. Accordingly, appropriate
enforcemant actions may be taken regarding matters that raise
issues c ' integrity, Competence, fitness-for-duty, or other matters
that may not necessarily be a violation of specific Commission
requirements. Enforcement actions against licensed owerators for
failure to reet fitness~for-duty requiremants sre addressed in
Section 7.4 of this Manual.

7.3.1 Procedures

Because potential enforcement actions involving individuals
are significant actions, The Virector, OE, is to be notizied
as soon as the staff identifies any violation that may lead to
enforcement action against an individual.

In those cases where the staff believes enforcement action
against an individual may be warranted, the NRC will normally
provide the individual with an opportunity to participate in
an enforcement conference. The region should provide the
individual a copy of the inspection report or Ol syncpsis
prior to the conference. The enforcement conference will be
closed, NRC attendance should be limitel, a transcript should
be taken, and NRC counsel (regional or OGC) should be presant.
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In addition, an OE staff member should attend the more
significant conferences.

Subsequent to the enforcement conference, the region should
determine whether enforcement action should be issued solely
against the facility licensee or if enforcemnent action should
also be issued against the ind vidual. (See the guidance in
Section 7.3.2.) ‘

Examples of appropriate sanctions against individuals and
facility licensees are discussed in Sections 7.3.3 and 7.3.4,
respectively. :

Any proposed enforcement action invelving individuals must be
issued with the concurrence of the DEDO. Prior notice will be
given to the Commission on NOVs without civil penalties that
are issued to unlicensed individuals and enforcenment actions
taken against other unlicensed entities, such as corporations
or partnerships. The Commission will be consulted prior to
issuing a civil penalty or order to any unlicensed individual
or a civil penalty to a licensed reactor operator.

Individual employses that are the subject of enforcement
action should be sent copies of all relevant correspondence.

7.3.2 Action Agsinst the Licensee or Action Against the
Licensee and the Individual

When a potential enforcement issue involves an individual, the
decision must be made whether to cite solely against the
licensee or cite against the individual and the facility
licensee. Part (a) of this section provides guidance includ-
ing examples of situations where it would be appropriate to
cite solely against the facility licensee. Part (b) provides
examples of situations that could result in enforcement
actions that may involve an individual or enforcement actions
that could be taken directly against an individual (licensed
or unlicensed) in addition to enforcement acticns taken
against the facility licensee. Part (c) includes factors that
should bsa considered in determining whether to issue enforce-
ment action against an unlicensed person in addition to the
facility licensee.
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Most transgressions of individuals involving Severity
Level III, IV, or V violations will be handled by citing
only the facility licensee. In addition, action against
an individual will not be taken if the individual’s
improper action was -aused by management failures.. The
following examp’es of situations illustrate this concept:

. Inadvertent individual mistakes resulting from:
inadequate training or guidance provided by the
facility li-ensew.

. Inadvertently missing an insignificant procedural
requirement when the action is routine and fairly
uncomplicated, and where no unusual circumstance
exists indicating that the procedures should be
referred to and followed step-by-step.

. A case in which compliance with an express direc-
tion of management, such as the Shift Supervisor or
Plant Manager, resulted in a viclation (unless the
individual did not express his or her concern or
objection te the direction).

. Individual error directly resulting from following
the technical advice of an expert unless the advice
was clearly unreasonable and the licensed individu-
al should have recognized it as such.

. Vicolations resulting from inadequate procedures
unless the individual used a faulty procedure
knowing it was faulty and did not attenpt to get
the procedure corrected.

More serious violations, including those invelving the
integrity of an individual (e.9., lying to the NRC)
concerning matters within the scope of the individual‘s
responsibilities, will be considered for enforcement
action against the individual as well as against the
facility licensee. Facility licensees are cited to
recognize the licensee’s responsibility for conduct of
its employees.
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Listed below are examples of situations which could
result in enforcement actiens invelving individuals,
licensed or un)icensed. if the actions described in
these examples are taxen by a licensed operator or taken
deliberately by an unlicensed individual, e.:forcement
action may be taken directly against the individual.
However, vioclations invelving willful conduct not
amounting to deliberate action by an unlicensed individu=-
al in these situations may result in enforcement action
against a license« that could impact an individial. The
situaticns include, but are not limited to, violations
that involve:

. Willfully causing a licensee to be in viglation of
NRC requirements.

« Willfully taking action that would have caused a
licensea to be in violation of NRC requirements but
did not because it was detected and corrective
action was taken.

. Recognizing a viclation of procedural requirements
and willfully not taking corrective action.

. Willfully defeating alarme which have safety sig-
nificance.

. Unauthorized abardoning of reactor controls.

* Dereliction of duty.

. Falsifying records reguired by NRC regulations or
by the facility licensa.

. Willfully providing, or causing a licensee to
provide, an NRC inspector or investigator with
inaccurate or incomplete information on a matter
material te the NRC.

. Willfully withholding safety significant informa-
tion rather than making such information known to
appropriate supervisory or technical personnel in
the licensee’s organization.

. Submitting false information and as a result gain-
ing unescorted access ©0 a nuclear power plant.

. As a contractor or other person who provides test-
ing or other services, willfully providing false
data to a licensee, when the data affects the
licensee’s compliance with 10 CFR Part 50, Appen~-
dix B, or other regulatory requirenent.
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. Willfully providing false certification that compo~-
nents meet the requirements of their intended use,
sSuch as an ASME Code.

® As vendors of coquipment for transportation of
radicactive mate:ial, willfully supplying casks
that do not comply with their certificates of
compliance.

. Willfully perform‘ng unauthorized bypassing of
required reactor or other facility safety systems.

. Willfully taking actions that violate TS LCOs
(enforcement action for a willful violation will
not be taken if the operator meeus the requirements
of 10 CFR 50.54(x), i.e., if the operator acted
reasonably considering all the relevant circum-
stances surrounding the emergency).

. In deciding whether to issue an enforcement action to an
unlicensed person in addition to the facility licenses,
the following factors should be considered:

. The level of the individual within the organiza~-
tion.

. The individual’s training, experience, and knowl-
edge of the potential consequences of the wrongdo-

ing.
. The safety consequences of the misconduct.
. The benefit t> the wrongdoer (e.g., personal or

corporate gain).

. The degree of gupervision of the individual (L0
how closely the individual is monitored or audited,
and the likelihood of detection ~ such as a radiog~-
rapher working independently in the field as con-
trasted with a team activity at a power plant).

. The employer’s response, including disciplinary
action taken.

. The attitude of the wrongdoer (e.g., admission of
wrongdoing, acceptance of responsibility).

. The degree of management responsibility or culpa~
bilaity.

. Who identified the misconduct.
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7.3.3 Action Against the Individual

The pzrticular sanction to be issued tc an individual should
b« determined on a case-by~case basis.

Exanples of sanctions that may be appropriate against individ-
uals are: (a) Letters of Reprimand, (b) NOVs,
(¢! orders, or (d) civil penalties.

a. Letters of Reprimand are addressed in paragraph (4) of
Section VI.D of the Enforcement Policy and in Section 5.9
of this manual. A Letter of Reprimand is a letter
addressed to an individual (licensed or unlicensed)
subject to Commission Jjurisdiction, identifying a
significant deficiency in the individual’'s performance of
licensed activities.

A Letter of Reprimand may be issued to a licensed
operator for inattentiveness to duties whasn the inatten~
tiveness does not meet the NRC’s threshoid for formal
enforcement action against the individual operator’s
license. A Letter of Reprimand may aliso be issved to an
unlicensed individual for unacceptable behavior when the
behavior does not meat the NRC’'s threshold for formal
enforcement action against the individual in accordance
with the provisions of the "Deliberate Misconduct® rule.
In both cases, the letter should serve as a vehicle for
notifying the individual that his or her actions are
unacceptable and that, if uncorrected or continued, could
lead to NRC enfourcement action. A Letter of Reprimand
nay be issued in conjunction with an enforcement action
against the licensee. Specific guidance for processing
Letters of Reprimand is addressad in Section 5.9.

b. NOVs may be issued to licensed or unlicensed individuals.
e. Crders to NRC-licensed reactor operators may involve
suspension for & specified period, modification, or
revocation of their individual licenses. Orders to

unlicensed individuals may include provisions that would:

. Prohibit involvement in NRC licensed activities for
a specified pericd of time (nocrmally the period of
suspension would not exceed five years) or until
certain conditions are satisfied (e.g., completing
specifjed training or meeting certain qualifica-
tions).

i Regquire notification to the NRC before resuming
work in licensed activities.
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. Require the person to tell a prospective employer
Or customer engaged in licensed activities that the
pPerson has been subject to an NRC order.

d. An NRC~licensed operator may be assessed a civil penalty.
Such assessment requires Commission approval. Except for
individuals subject to civil penalties under Section 206
of the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, as amended, NRC
will not normally impose a civil penalty against an
individual. However, Section 234 of the Atomic Energy
Act (AEA) gives the Commission authority to impose civil
penalties on "any person.” "Parson® is broadly defined
in Section 11s of the AEA to include individuals, a
variety of organizations, and any representatives or
igents. This gives the Commission authority to impose
civil penalties on employees of licensees or on sSeparate
entities when a violation of a requirement directly
imposed on them is committed.

7.3.4 Action Against the Facility Licensee

The particular sanction to be issusd to a facility licensee
should be determined on a case-by-case basis.

Examples cf sanctions that may be appropriate against facility
licensees are: (a) NCVs, (b) NOVe, (c) eivil penalties, (d)
orders, or (e) CALs.

a. In accordance with paragraph (2) of Section VII.B of the
Enforcement Policy, the NRC may exercise discretion and
refrain from issuing an NOV for a licensee~identified
Severity Level IV or V willfil violation invelving a low
level individual. See paragraph (d) of Section 6.3.1.2
for complete criteria for exercise of this discretion.

b. NRC~identified willful violations invelving individuals
should always be cited.

S, The Enforcement Policy provides that civil penalties are
normally issued for willful violations.

d. When the NRC takes an enforcement action against a
licensee beczuse of an individual employee’s action, and
that enforcement action may affect the employment of the
individual, the individual may have rights to a hearing.
Further, NRC employees may be individually liahle for
affecting a person’s constitutional rights. Thorefore,
if the NRC councludes that an individual should be removed
from licensed activities, an order is to be used rather
than an informal action, such as a CAL, to clearly
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establish hearing opportunities except as indicated
below,

In the case of an unlicensed entity, whether a firm or an
individual, an order modifying tle facility license may
be issued to require (1) the remcval of the person from
all licensed activities for a specified period of time or
indefinitely, (2) prior notice tc the WRC before utiliz~
ing tihe person in licensed activities, or (3) rotice of
the issuvance of such an order to other persons involved
in licensed activities making reference inquiries. 1In
addition, orders to employers might require retraining,
additional oversight, or independent verification of
activities performed by the persun, if the person is to
be involved in licensed activities.

a. A CAL may be used instead of an ordaer if the licensee is
told that an individual may not use licensed materia)
because the individual is not named on the license or
does not meet the Commission requirements. In addition,
A CAL may be used where the licensee has already on its
own, removed an individual and the NRC only seeks to be
informed of any decision to reinstate that individual and
the basis for that decision. Such a CAL should state
Clearly that the agreement does not require NRC approval
for reinstatenent.

7.3.5 Actions Concerning Individuals Licensed
by Other Authorities

Some enforcement actions are taken against individuals who are
licensed by other autrori:ies. The most common cases are
enforcement actions taken against physicians who are licensed
by individual State licensing boards. Others who may be
subject to NRC action and may be licensed by a State board
include nurses, wedical technologists, professional engineers,
and attorneys. If an order is issued against an individual
who is licensed (or registerad) by a State, the issuing office
should send a copy of the order to the licensing authority for
the State. In addition, a copy of any action against a
physician should be sent to:

Federation of State Medical Boards
of the United States, Inc.

2630 Wast “reewvay

Fort Worth, Texas 76102

The Federation is a central repository that maintains the
Physician Disciplinary Data Bank.
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If the region intends to forward an order issued against an
individual to a State licensing authority and/or the Federa-
tion, it shoula highlight this intent in the memorandum
transmitting the region’s recommended propcsed enforcement
action to OE.

It is imperative that if after issuance of the aztion, NRC
changes its position on the matter, a copy of the NRC revised
position be forwarded to the same licensing authority and the
Federation, as applicable.

7.4 Enforcement Actions Involving Fitness-For-Duty (FFD)

The Commission has established requirements for operating nuclear
pover plante ({0 implement fitness-for-duty Programs and require-
ments for licensed operators to follow fitness-for-duty programs.
Therarore, each fitness-for~duty issue must be evaluated to
determine whether enforcement acticn should be issued against the
facility licensee for failure to adequately implement a program or
against the individual licensed operator for failure to follow the

program.
7.4.1 Action Against Facility Licensee

10 CFR Part 2¢ requires operating nuclear power reactors to
implenent a fitnese~for-duty program. Among other things, the
Program must provide reasonable aAssurance that nuclear powver
plant personnel wili perform their tasks in a reliable and
trustworthy manner, free from the influence of any substance,
legal or illegal, or mental or physical impairment from any
Cause, which adversely affecta their ability to safely and
Competently perform their duties.

In citing the facility licensee, it is important to note that
it is not the unfit person that establishes the violation but
rather the licensee’s failures to implement the program,
including those of its contractors and vendors, that creates
the violation. For example, if the licensee has effectively
implemented its fitness~-for-duty program meeting NRC require~
ments and, based on behavior observation, identifies and
removes a person not fit for duty, there may not be a regula-
tory violation.

Enforcement actions against facility licensees should be
prepared and processed in accordance with the standard
guidance for escalated and non-escalated actions.

Supplement VII of the Enforcement Policy provides exanmples of
viclations where the facility licensee failed to meet the
reguirements of 10 CFR Part 26.
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7.9 Enforcement Action Against Non-Licensees

The Enforcement Policy also applies to non-licensees, in~.uaing
~icensee employees, contractors and subcontractors, and enployees
of contractors and subcontractors, who knowingly provide compo~-
nents, equipment, or other goods or services that relate tc a
licensee’s activities subject to NRC regulation. The prohibitions
and sanctions for any of these persons who engage in deliberate
misconduct or submission of incomplete or inaccurate informatisn
are provided in the rule on deliberate misconduct, (e.g., 10 CIR
30.30 and 50.5).

Ver4nrs of products or services provided for use in nuclear
act slties are subject to certain requirements designed to ensure
tha* the products or services supplied that could affect safety are
of uLigh gquality. Through procurement contracts with reactor
licensees, vendors may be required to have quality assurance
programs that mzet applicable reguirements including 10 CPR
Part 50, Appendix B, and 10 CFR Part 71, Subpart H. Vendors
supplying products or services to reactor, materials, and 10 CPR
Part 71 licensees are subject to the reguirements of 10 CFR Part 21
for reporting defects in basic components.

When inspections determine that violations of NRC requirements have
occurred, or that vendors have failed to fulfill contractual
commitments (e.g., 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B) in a manner that
could adversely affect the quality of a safety-significant product
Or service, enforcement action will be taken. NOVs and civil
penalties will be used, as appropriate, for licensee failu es to
ensure that their vendors have pPrograms that meet applicable
requirements. Notices of Violation will be issued for veandors that
violate 10 CFR Part 21. cCivil penalties will be imposed against
individual directors or responsible officers of a vendor organiza-
tion who knowingly and consciously fail to provide the notice
required by 10 CFR 21.21(b)(1). Notices of Nonconformance will be
used for vendors that fail to meet commitments related to NRC
activities.

.7.10 Violations of Reporting Requirements

A licensee may be cited for vieolating reporting requirements if the
licensee (1) did not file a required report, (2) filed an incom-
plete or incorrect report, ur (3) filed a report late. A licensee
cannot be cited for failing to report an issue if the licensee was
Not aware of the information that was reportable, even if the
licensee should have had such awareness. A licensee can be cited
for failure to report an issue if the licensee knew of the
information to be reported, but did not recognize that it was
required to make a report.
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The severity level assigned to the licensee’s failure to submit a
required, acceptable, and timely report on a violation that
occurred at the licensee’s facility is normally the same as would

7.11 Violations of Record-Keeping Requirements

When a licensee is required to perform a task and to keep a record
©of having performed it, but cannov produce that record, an NOV day
be issued for "failure to keep the record.” The citation may be
considered supporting evidence that a licensee did not perform a
required task. However, without additional evidence that the task
was, indeed, not performed, the abeance of the record is normally
insufficient to support an NGV for "failure to perform" the task.
Collaborating information, such as interviews or other evidence,
should be used to determine whether the licensee failed to parform
the task or merely failed to record that the task wvas performed.

7.12 Meeting:. With Licensees Regarding NRC Enforcement Action

In a few escalated enforcement cases, licensees have requested a
meeting be held after an enforcement action been issued but before
the enforcement process has been completed. From the time an
enforcement action is issued through the hearing process, the NRC
is considered to be in the enforcement process. Throughout the
enforcement process, the licensee is given numerous opportunities
to discuss in detail the inspection findings, including: during
the inspection, at the inspection exit interview, after receipt of
the inspection report, during the enforcement conference, in the
formal response to the Notice of Violation, in the reply to the
Order Imposing Civil Monetary Penalty, and in a hearing, it
requested. Additional discussion beyond these opportunities
normally would not be useful, unless new information has been
discovered which has a significant effect on the outcome of the NRC
enforcement action.

1f, however, the licensee insists on holding a meeting with the
NRC, the following guidelines apply and the licensee is to be
informed that: (1) an official transcript of the neeting will be
taken in order to provide a clear record of the discussion should
the staff desire to rely on it, since information may be provided
that has not been previously provided in a written submittal; and
(2) this transcript (absent exempt information) will be made a
public record and will be placed in the PDR.

1f, after consultation with the Regional Administrator, the
Director, OE, concludes that such a meeting should be held, it is
to be cunducted with the Director or Deputy Director, OE present.
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5.5.9 Press Releases for Civil Penalties

Press releases are generally issued for proposed civil penalty
actions.

Regional enforcement personnel will inform the regional Public
Affairs Officer (RPAO) when these actions are about to be
issued. The RPAO will provide a press release to the regional
sta. ! for concurrence. OF may also review press releases in
some particularly significant cases. After the enforcement
action has been signed, the RPAC will verify that the licensee
has been notified of the action and has received a copy. The
press release is generally issued 24 hours after the lic see
receives a copy of the enforcement action. If the lic ee
issues its own press release during the intervening pe:r. :d,
the RPAO may proceed to issue a press release.

All press releases should include information regarding the
status of the facility’s corrective actions (e.g., corrective
actions have been initiated and appear acceptable; or, plant
will remain shut down until completion of corrective actions),
the facility’s recent operating history, as appropriate, and
& brief basis for escalating or mitigating the base civil
penalty to present a balanced account to the public.

5.5.10 Licensee Response to Civil Penalty

Licensees are generally required to respond to civil penalty
actions within 30 days. If a licensee doas not respond to a
civil penalty action within the allotted time and the region
has made several unsuccessful attempts to contact the licens-
ee, the region should contact OFE and consideration will be
given to whether the case should be referred to the Attorney
General or whether an order imposing the civil penalty should
be issued or whether some other enforcement action is war-
ranted.
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e. The Regional Administrator (or designee) normally signs
and issues delegated civil penalty actions for Severity
Level III violations involving medical institutions,
physicians, nuclear phsrmacies, academic institutions,
raciographers, irradiators, well loggers, and gauge
users, without prior review and approval by the Director,
OE and the DEDO.

5.5.8 Licensee Notification, Mailing, & Distribution
of Civil Penalties

Licensee notification, mailing, and distribution should be
made according to the following guidelines:

a. In most cases, the region will notify the licensee by
telephone of an enforcement action invelving a civil
monetary penalty. However, in certain cases (determined
on a case-by-case basis), headquarters personnel will
provide this notification. In all Cases, the licensee
will be notified of the proposed civil penalty before tie
information is made public.

b. Licensees are to be provided a hard copy of escalated
enforcement actions as expeditiously as possible.
Electronic transmission of escalated enforcement actions
should be used to provide a hard copy to licensees having
facsimile equipment. Alternatively, licensees in close
geographic proximity to regional offices may choose to
have hard copy picked up by courier from the regional
office. In addition, escalated enforcement packages are
to be mailed by either Certified Mail (Return Receipt
Requested) or Express Mail (Return Receipt Requested,.
If facsimile equipment is not available, escalated
enforcement packages are to be mailed by Express Mail
(Return Receipt Regquested).

2. The office in which the package is signed is responsible
for its distribution. Distribution lists are included in
Appendix C.
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3.5.4 Willful Violations

Wiliful violations are by definition of particular concern to
the Commission because its regulatory program is based on
licensives (and their contractors, emplcyees, and agents)
écting with integrity and communicating with candor. There-
fore, the severity level of a violation may be increased if
the circumstances surrounding the matter involve careless

» disreyard for reguirements, deception, or other indications of
willfulness.

In determining the specific severity level of a vioclation
involving willfulness, consideration will be given to such
factors as the position and responsibilities of the person
involved in the violation, the significance of the underlying
violation, the intent of the violator, and the economic or
other advantage gained, if any, as a result of the violation.
However, notwithstanding these considerations, the severity
level of a willful Severity Level V violation will be in-
Creased to at least Severity Level IV. (See Section 7.2 for
additional information regarding willful violations.)

3.3.5 Violations of Reporting Requirements

The severity level of a violation invelving the failure to
make a required report to the NRC will be based upon the
significance of and the circumstances surrounding the matter
that should have been reported. In other words, the reporting
vicolation should be categorized at the same severity level as
the issue that was not reported. The severity level of an
urtimely report may be reduced depending on the circumstances

surrounding the matter. However, a Severity Level III
reporting viclation downgraded to a IV due to the circumstanc-
es nust be coordinated with OE. (See Section 7.10 for

additional informaticn regarding violations of reporting
requirements.)

3.5.6 Factors Not Affecting Severity Leve!

Whether the licensee finds and reports a problem, or whether
the licensee takes prompt and extensive corrective actions, is
normally not considered in determining severity level, unless
these items are part of the violation itself. After the
severity level is determined, these factors are considered in
evaluating and proposing the appropriate enforcement action
Commensurate with the severity level of the violation.
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In addition, the actions of a public utility commission or
other State or local regulatory agency in response to a
proposed NRC enforcement action are not matters to be consid-
ered in applying the Enforcement Policy. Specifically, the
posiible impact from the reaction of a public utility commis-
siol or other State or local regulatory agency should not be
considered in determining potential severity level, civil
penalty amount, (if a civil penalty i~ proposed) or nature and
context of an order. Examples of potential iwpacts that might
occur include not allowing recovery of the cost of a civil
penally or cost of the replacement power for an outage
necessitated by the violations at issue. However, if a State
regulatory agency has taken enforcement action against a
licensee for a transportation issue, the NRC should consider
that action before determining appropriate enforcement action.
(See Section 8.6.2 for additional guidance on NRC action in
conjunction with State action for a transpertation violation.)

3.6 Documentation of Noncompliances in Inspection Reports

Noncompliances are normally documented in inspection reports or, in
cartain cases involving material licensees, official field notes or
by using NRC Form 5951, "Safety Inspection.® See the guidance in
Section 4.3 of this Manual for detailed guidance on the use of NRC
Form 591 to document noncompliances. In addition, detailed
guidance on preparation of inspection reports and use of official
field notes is contained in the NRC lnspection Manual, Chapter
0610, "Inspection Reports,” and Chapter 87100, "Licensed Materials
Program,” respectivaly.

Inspection reports or official field notes must contain a suffi-
ciently detailed discussion of the inspection findings to substan~
tiate any safety and regulatory issues and support any enforcement
sanction the NRC may choose to issue. The degree of detail
necessary to support an enforcement action is a function of the
significance and complexity of the noncompliance. The inspection
report should include information, as appropriate, that was
previously gathered using the Noncompliance Information Checklist
" in Appendix C.

The discussion of noncompliances in inspection reports or official
field notes should not include any conclusions about the intent of
a violation, such as whether it was deliberate, willful, or dus to
careless disregard. The discussion in the inspection report should
~address the circumstances surrounding the apparent vioclation
without making a conclusion about the intent of the viclator. For
exanmple, it would be appropriate to include the following sentence
in an inspection report, "The radiographer failed to activate his
alarming dosimeter." It would not be appropriate to say, "The
radiographer deliberately failed to activate his alarming dosime-~
ter." Conclusions about the willfulness of an apparent violation
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CHAPTER 7
MISCELLANEOUS GUIDANCE

7.1 Scope of the Chapter

This chapter provides guidance to the staff on a wide range of
topics, including: willful wviolations, enforcement actions
invelving individuals, enforcement actions involving fitness-for-
duty requirements, OI reports, referrals to the Department of
Justice (DOJ), discrimination for engaging in protected activities,
material false statements and completeness and accuracy of
informat ion, enforceme 't actions against non-licensees, violations
of reporting requirem- its, violations of recorrd-keeping require-
ments, meetings with licensees on NRC enforrement action, and
recpening closed enforcement acticns.

7.2 Willful Violations

This section proviies generic guidance on the issue of willful
viclations. Specific guidance for the different types of willful
violations is addressed in the following sections of this Manual.
Section 7.3 includes guidance for willful violations involving
individuals. Section 7.4 includes guidance for willful failures by
NRC~licensed reactor Operators to comply with fitness-for-duty
requirements. Section 7.% includes guidance on processing oI
reports that may or may not conclude willfulness. (It is important
to note that not all willful violations require OI reports to
substantiace wrongdoeing.) Section 7.6 includes guidance for
willful violations that have been referred to DOJ. Section 7.7
includes guidance for willful acts by licensees to discriminate
against employees for engaging in protected activities. Section
7.8 includes guidance for failures to provide complete and accurate
information that may or may not involve willfulness.

A willful violation or an act of wrongdoing is one in which an NRC
requirement has been breached with some intent or purpose to commit
the breach, rather than through mistake or error. Wrongdoing
consists of both intentional viclations of NRC requirements and

indifference to regulatory requirements amounting to intent. A
- reasonable basis of wrongdoing exists wvhen, from the circumstances
surrounding it, a violation of a requlatory requirement appears
more likely to have been intentional or to have resulted from
careless disregard or reckless indifference than from a simple
error or oversight.
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Notwithstandi,q the actual safety consequence of a willful
violation, the Commission has taken the position that all willful
vicolations are of regulatory concern because its regulatory
programs are based on licensees and their employees and ccntractors
acting with integrity and communicating with candor.

7.2.1 Referral to Ol

In accordance with MD 8.8 (formerly MC 0517), "Managoment of
Allegations," the NRC staff is required to notify OI when the
staff is aware of an allegation that could potentially involve
wrongdoeing. Although OI initiates investigations in mo-
cases, not all willful violations require OI reports
substantiate wrongdoing. The inspection staff may have wha
they believe is sufficient evidence to make a finding regard-
ing willfulness. In these cases, OI may, after evaluating the
information provided by the inspection staff, issue a memoran-
dum to the requesting office that finds the wrongdoing to be
either substantiated or not substantiated.

7.2.2 Enforcement Sanctions

Because all willful violations are of significant regulatory
concern, the NRC will not hesitate to use the full range of
its enforcement sanctions to demonstrate the unacceptability
of such actions. The NRC will issue an order in the event it
loses reasonable assurance that licensed activities can be
conducted safely. Under the Enforcement Policy, the severity
level of a willful violation will normally be increased (See
Section 3.5.4 of this Manual for additional guidance) and a
civil penalty is normally proposed for a willful violation at
any severity level. In the event the agency cannot make a
conclusion on whether an issue involves willfulness, it may
issue a Demand for Information to the licensee, requesting
information on whether the NRC can have reasonable assurance
that the licensee will conduct its activities in accordance
with NRC requirements.

7.2.3 Discretion

Every case involving a willful violation should normally be
considered for escalated action. However, in rn effort to
encourage licensees to act responsibly in the identification
and correction of such violations, the NRC may choose to
exercise discretion and refrain from issuing an enforcement
action if a licensee-~identified and corrected Severity
Level IV or V violation was committed by a relatively low-
level individual. (See paragraph (d) of Section 6.3.1.2 of
this Manual for ccuplete criteria for exercising this discre-
tion.)
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. A request for the vendor or certificate holder to
respond, including a description of the steps taken
or planned to correct the nonconformances, the
steps taken or planned to prevent recurrence, and
the date wher the corrective actions were or will
be completed.

. Cover letters that transmit inspection reports and NONs
should be prepared by the appropriate branch using form 9
in Appendix B.

4.5.2 NON Coordination and Review

Because an NON is considered a non-escalated enforcement
action, it does not need " be coordinated with OE prior to
issuance.

4.5.3 NON Signature Autt ;i 'y

NONs should be signed and issued according to the following
guidelines:

a. The Director, NRR may redelegate to Branch Chiefs and
above, the authorit; ' . issue non-escalated enforcement
actions involving ve. ors.

b. The Director, NMSS may redelegate to Branch Chiefs and
above, the authority to issue non-escalated enforcement
actions involving transportation shipping packages.

4.4.4 Notification, Mailing, & Distribution of NONs

Vendors or certificate holders are normally sent NONs at the
time an inspection report is issued.

4.6 Confirmatory Action Letter (CAL)

Confirmatory Action Letters are addressed as i“em (3) in Section
"VI.D of the Enforcement Policy. CALs are letters issued to
licensees or vendors to emphasize and confirm a licensee’'s or
vendor’s agreement to take certain actions in response to specific
issues. The NRC expects licensees and vendors to adhere to any
obligations and commitments addressed in a CAL and will not
_hesitate to issue appropriate orders to ensure that the obligations
and commitments are met. CALs are normally used for emergent
§ituations where the staff believes that it is not necessary or
appropriate to develop a legally binding requirement, in light of
the agreed-upon commitment. CALs are flexible and valuable tools
available tc the staff to resolve licensee issues in a timely and
efficient manner.
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For example, a CAL may be issued when a materials licensee is
coutside of a particular license condition, but the license
condition prescribes neither the action not the timeliness for
restoring compliance as would be prescribed by a reactor licensee’s
technical rcpecification action statement. A CAL would be useful in
tLis type of situation to confirm compensatory actions that, if
implemented, would ensure safety such that an immediate shutdown of
a facility might not be necessary. The use of a CAL in this
situation is generally reserved for materials licensees. A Notice
of Enforcement Discretion (NOED) would be the appropriazte tool for
reactor licensees if the issue is addressed by a license condition.
(See Section 6.4 for additional guidance on the use of NOEDs.)

a. CALs may be issued o confirm the following types of actions
(note that this is not an exhaustive list):

. In-house or independent comprehensive program audit of

licensed acti ties

Radioclogical safety training

Procedural improvements

Equipanwnt maintenance

Equipmant operation and safety verification

Tenmpora -y suspension of licensed activities

NRC approval prior to resumption of licensed activities

Root r4use failure analyses

Improved control and security of licensed material

Operation in compliance with NRC regulatory requirements

Transfer of licensed matlerial

Future submittal of license amendment request

Employee training to address recent esvent at licensee’s

facility

Commitment to honor an AIT or IIT gquiarantine request

“ Specific actions in response to an unsatisfactory
operator requalification program

b. CALs should only be issued when there is a sound technical
and/or regulatory basis for the necessity of the desired
actions discussed in the CAL. Specifically, CALs must meet
the threshold defined in the Enforcement Policy (i.e., “to
remove significant concerns about health and safety, safe-
guards, or the environment"). In other words, the issues
addresse” in a CAL should be at a level of significance such
that if tne licensee did not agree to meet the commitments in
a CAL, the staff would not hesitate to issue an order.
Orders, rather than CALs should be iessued to address very
wignificant issues (see additional discussion below).

8. Even though a CAL by definition confirms an agreement by the
licensee to take some described action, it may, at times,
require some negotiation with the licensee prior to issuance,
just as may occur in negotiating a Confirmatory Order. The
licensee must, however, agree to take the action. An order
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Now-Escalated Actions Chapter 4
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should be issued instead of a CAL when it is apparent that the
licensee will not agree to take certain actions that the starf
believes are necessary to protect the public health and
safety.

The decision of whether to issuve a CAL or an order should be
based, case-by-case, on the nature of the action to be taken
by the lice''see. In those instances where time is a critical
factor, a CAL can be issued followed Ly the issuance of an
order. Since CALs do not establish legully binding require-~
ments, orders must be used whenever there is a need to ensure
that an enforceable requirement is in place. For example, a
CAL is not sufficient to legally require NRC approval prior to
resumption of licensed activities. Orders should be issued
instead of CALs where there is an integrity issue, wvhere there
is schoe likelihood that a licensee may not comply with a
Commitment, or where the staff is unsure that the CAL will
achieve the desired outcome. CALs are not to be used to
remove an indi{vidual from, or restrict his or her ability to
perform, licensed activities. Such action requires an order,
not just to ensure enforceability, but because individual
rights are affected and the opportunity for a hearing must be
given both to the licensee and the affected individual.

e. Orders should be considered through consultation between the
regional office, the appropriate program office, and OF for
long~term suspensions (i.e., long~term shutdowns for perfor-
mance problems where the NRC wants to be involved in the
restart decision). Timeliness should not be the scle deter-
mining factor of whether to issue an order versus a CAL. If
speed of action is a concern, then a CAL is a suitable
instrument to confirm immediate suspension and the start of
activities associated with a longer term suspension of
licensed activities. In these cases, an order (usually a
Confirmatory Order) should subseguently be considered through
consultation between the regional office, the appropriate
program coffice, and oL,

L From time to time, licensees elect to submit letters to the
NRC addressing actions that they intend to take in reaction to
safety issues. In these cases, the staff may, depending on
the significance of the issues involved, elect to issue a
brief CAL accepting the licensee’s letter and commitments.
The first three elements in Section 4.6.2 may, as appropriate,
merely reference the licensee’s letter.
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4.6.1 Noncompliance With CALs

Other than the reporting provisions pursuant to Section 182 of
the Atomic Energy Act , CALs do not establish legally binding
requirements. However, failure to meet a commitment in a CAL
could be addressed through an NOD. In addition, au order or
& Demand For Information could be issued where the licensee’'s
performance, as demonstrated by the failure to meet CAL
commitments, does not provide reasonable assurance that the
NRC can rely on the licensse to meet the NRC’Ss requirements
and protect the public health and safety. As previously
stated, in accordance with the provisions of the Enforcement
Policy, commitments in a CAL may be made NRC requirements
through the issuance of an order.

Issuance of a CAL does not preclude the NRC from taking
enforcement action for viclations of regulatory reguirements
that may have prompted the issuance of the CAL. Such enforce~-
ment action is intended to emphasize safe operation in
compliance with regulatory requirements, and to clarify that
the CAL process is not a routine substitute for compliance.
However, the NRC would not normally take additional enforce-
ment action for thoae violations that continue after a CAL has
been issued where compensatory actions have been accepted by
the NRC.

4.6.2 CAL Preparation

CALs should be preprved using the standard format in Appen=-
dix B (Form 22). CALs should include the following elements:

. A brief discussion of the specific issues with which the
NRC has concern, including how and when they were
identified.

1Pur.uant to Section 182 of the Act and the NRC's implementing regulations,
CALSs may require a licenses to notify the NRC Lif its understanding of its
commitments differs from what is stated in the CAL, if it cannot meet the
corrective actions schedule, and when corrective actions are completed. Failure
to provide such required notification may be treated like any other violation of
& reguirement.
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7.6.3 NRC Enforcement Action

Notu.thstanding the policy on withholding NRC enforcement
acticn for those cases referred to DOJ, tne staff should take
certain actions to ensure timely processing of enforcement
actions upon DOJ release or declination.

Withiv 6 wveeks of receiving an OI report, c¢r 2 wveeks .fter the
Rulti-office meeting (see Section 7.5.4.4 for guidance con-
cerning this multi-office meeting), the Director, OE, will
normally contact DOJ to advise them of the NRC’s intended
direcuion in terms of any potential enforcement action. This
will enable DOJ to advise OFE if an NRC enforcement action will
interfere with planned DOJ action.

A copy of all correspondence prepared by the region, OFE, 0GC,
and the applicable program office invelving a case referred to
DOJ should be sent to OI indicating the EA number. This will
permit establishing a reference file for DOJ, should it
prosecute the case.

If DOJ does not object to the conduct of an enforcement
conference, then the region should conduct an enforcement
conference and submit a preliminary recommended enforcement
action in accordance with the guidance in Section 7.%.4.5.

If DOJ requests that the NRC stay the conduct of an anforce-
ment conference, within 10 weeks of receiving an Ol report, or
within 6 weeks after the multi-office meeting, the region
should prepare anu submit its preliminery recommendation for
unforcement action to headquarters. The region shculd also
draft a Commission paper as part of the proposed eniorcement
action submitted, if necessary.

In either case, OF will subsequently coordinate the draft
enforcement action with the appropriate program office, obtain
the necessary legal review, and submit the draft action to the
DEDO for preliminary approval.

1f DOJ determines that a referred case lacks prosecutive
merit, it will notify the NRC (Director, OI) by a letter of
declination. OI should promptly call OF upon receipt of the
letter and should send copies of the letter to OE and the
applicable region as soon as possible sc that the enforcement
process can proceed in 2 timely manner.

Following DOJ release or declination, the region should
promptly hold an enforcement conference, if one has not
already been held. After the enforcement conference, the
region should make any necessary adjustments to the draft
enforcement action based on the information provided durin?:

Lok 1!
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the enforcement conference. The region should submit its
revised recommendation to OF within a week of the enforcement
conference and OF will then process the case on an expedited
basis.

7.7 Discriminatio1 for Engaging in Protected Activities

The NRC places a high value on nuclear industry employees being
free to raise potantial safety concerns, regardless of the merits
of the concern, to both licansee management and the NRC.
Therefore, one of the goals of the NRC's Enforcement Policy is to
@nsure, through appropriate enforcement action against a licensee,
that employment actions taken against licensee or contractor
employees for raising safety concerns do not have a chilling cttccs
on the individual or others on the reporting of safety concerns.
For purposes of this guidance, discrimination should be broadly
defined and should include intimidation or harassment that could
lead a person to reasonably expect that, if he or she makes
allegations about what he or she believes are unsafe conditions,
the compensation, terms, conditions, and privileges of employment
could be affected.

Section 211 (formerly 210) of the ERA provides that no enployer may
discharge or otherwise discriminate against any employee with
respect to compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of
enployment because the employee engaged in certain protected
activities. These protected activities include notifying an
employer of an alleged violation of the AEA or ERA, refusing to
éngage in any practice made unlawful by those acts, testifying
before Congress or in a Pederal or State proceeding regarding any
provision of these acts, or commencing, testifying, assisting, or
participating in a proceeding under these acts. NRC regulations
that are related to the protection of whistleblowers include: 10
CFR 19.20, 30.7, 40.7, %0.7, 60.9, 61.9, and 72.10. 1In addition,
10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion I provides that persons and
ciganizations performing quality assurance functions shall have
sufficient authority and freedom to identify problems and provide
solutions.

" Allegations of discrimination that fall under Section 211 of the
ERA can be made directly to the NRC or the Department of Labor
(DOL) or both. In accordance with the NRC guidance in MD 8.8
(formerly MC 0517), "Management of Allegations,” all allegations of
discrimination are entered in the NRC’s Allegation Management
System (AMS) and are reviewed by the Allegation Review Board (ARB).

luthouqh licensees will be heid responsible in enforcement actions for the
discriminatory actions of their contractors, they are not required to specifi-
cally report allegations of harassment, intimidation, or discrimination.
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This sevtion provides guidance regarding cases involving discrimi~
nation against employees for engaging in protected activities, and
discusses the actions taken by the DOL and the NRC in these cases.

7.7.1 Memorzndum of Understanding (MOU) Between NRC
and DOL

> The MOU between the NRC and DOL is included in Appendix F.
The MOU describes the responsibilities of the NRC and DOL in
protecting the rights of employees as specified in Section 211
of the Energy Reorganization Act (ERA) of 1974, as amended,
Section 3 of the MOU provides that the two agencies will
"...cooperate with each other to the fullest extent possible
in every case of alleged discrimination involving enployees of
Commission licensees, applicants, or contractors or subcon-
tractors of Commission licensees or applicants."

The NRC and DOL have develcped these working arrangements to
eénsure prompt notification, investigation, and followup of
complaints involving alleged discrimination &jainst employses
who have contacted or attempted to contact the NRC.

Under the MOU betwean NRC and DOL, if DOL rece!ves a complaint
concerning a possible violation of Section 211, it will
promptly notify the NRC through the established regional
liaison, normally the enforcement coordinator, and inform the
NRC whether DOL intends to investigate the matter. DOL also
will notify the NRC of the results of the Area Director’s
Notice of Determination (the results of the DOL investigator’s
conciliation effort and investigation), of the recommended
Decision and Order of the Administrative Law Judge (if the
Notice of letermination is appealed by either party), and of
the Final Order of the Secretary of Labor. The NRC will
facilitate DOL’‘s investigations by taking all reasonable steps
to assist DOL in obtaining access to licensed facilities and
any necessary security clearances.

7.7.2 Processing Discrimination Complaints Filed
With NRC

If an employee does not file an allegation of discrimination
with DOL, but instead raises the concern directly to an NRC
employee, then that NRC employee should be sensitive to the
NRC responsibilities in this area and should make sure that
the alleger understands that the NRC is concerned about these
complaints. The NRC cemployee who receives the complaint is to
follow the guidance in MD 8.8 (formerly MC 0517), Appendix,
Part I, which includes informing the complainant that: (1) to
protect his or her personal emplcyee rights under the ERA
(e.g., backpay, reinstatement, or job position), the complain-
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ant must file a complaint with poL within 180 days of the
occurrence of the discrimination, and (2) the NRC considers
the discrimination complaint and any safety concerns the
complainant raised. The alleger should also be informed that,
although the NRC may investigate the allegation of discrinina-
tion prior to its resolution by DOL, the NRC will likely await
the results of the DOL inv.ltiqation, which the NRC will
monitor.

In these cases, the egion should evailuate the allegation in
accordance with the guidance in MD 8.8.

7.7.3 Processing Discrimination Complaints Filed
With DOL

If DOL receives a complaint concerning a possibple viclation of
Section 211, the complaint is nermally processed according to
the following steps:

a. DOL will Promptly notify the NRC through the established
regional liaison, Normally the enforcement coordinator,
and inform the NRC whether DOL intends to investigate the
matter.

b. The region will normelly avait completion of DOL investi-
gations and other Proceedings bafore initiating an
investigation of, or formal enforcement action for, a
complaint of discrimination. However, if an allegation
involves significant Public health and safety implica~
tions that require prompt action, the NRC should investi-
gate the safety awpects of the allegation, resolve thenm,
and take appropriate enforcement action without awaiting
the ocutcome of any DOL action. The action to be taken
should be determined on & case-by-case basis and should
include consideration of referral to OI for investiga-~
tion, enforcement action for specific acts of discrimina~-
tion, action to identify patterns of discrimination and
levels of management involvement, bringing the issues to
the attention of the licensee, and enforcement conferenc-
@8 and management meetings to discuss pPossible licensee
actions with regard to the potential chilling effects of
discrimination.

c. The DOL Area Office will potify the NRC ©f the Area
Director’s Notice of Deterwination that: (1) discrimina-
tion was found, (2) the complaint was conciliated before
a decision was rendered, (3) the complaint was dismissed
On procedural grounds, (4) the case was withdrawn, or (%)
no discrimination was found on the merits of the case.

NRC Eaforcement Manual 7-189 Rev. 08/13/93



Subsequent to DOL notification of the Area Office
determination, for each of the cases noted above, the
region should review the relevant DOL information,
including the DOL investigator’s narrative report. The
region should request the DOL information using the
sample letter in Appendix B (Form 27) as a guide. Note:
the information provided te the NRC by DOL should not Le
disclosed without the approval of DOL.

For those cases where the Area Office Director found
discrimination or where the case was conciliated before
a decision was rendered, the region will issue a “chill-
ing effect" letter to the licensee requesting that it
describe: (1) its basis for the employment action
against the individual and (2) the actions taken or
planned to ensure that the alleged discriminatory act,
whether actual or perceived, does not have a chilling
effect on other employees who would raise safety con-
cerns. A sample "chilling effect” letter for requesting
this information from the licensee is included in
Appendix B, Form 26. OE should receive a ©py of this
letter.

The same information may be requested from licensees for
those cases in which the DOL Area Director does not find
discrimination or for those cases that were dismissed on
procedural grounds, if, in the opinion of the region, the
circumstances of the particular discrimination complaint
warrant the request. Normally, complaints withdrawn by
the complainant before an Area Office decision will not
require the issuvance of a chilling effec® letter.

After receiving the licensee’s response to the "chilling
effect" letter, the region should evaluate all of the
available information and determine whether sufficient
evidence axists to support enforcement action. The
region should make an independent decision on the
appropriatencss of enforcement action at this stage,
notwithstanding the pendency of any continuing DOL
investigation.

If the rejion believes sufficient esvidence exists to
support enforcement action and the Area Office decision
was not appealed, the region should consult with OE and
OGC and initiate enforcement action (see the guidance in
Section 7.7.4 on preparing the enforcement action). 1If
the Area Office decision was appealed, the region should
await the decision of the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ)
(See paragraph (j) below).
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If sufficient evidence does not yet exist, and, absent an
appeal (i.e., no other DOL investigation is expected),
the region should consider asking OI to investigate the
complaint if the available evidence indicates that
discrimination may hava occurred but that evidence is
insufficient to support issuing a violation. The decji-
sion on whether to request an OI investigation should be
made on a case-by-case basis. Factors to consider
include whether the alleged discrimination may be
egregious, whether the licensee has a Listory of discrim-
ination complaints, the likelihood of a viclation
existing, and the potential for the employment action
having a chilling effect on future complaints.

If OI investigates and determines that discrimination in
violation of NRC requirements Occurred, the region should
initiste the enforcerent process. If OI does not
substantiate the alleged dilcrinination, the case should
either be closed or Put on hold in accordance with the
guidance in paragraphs (i) and (j) of this section. If
OI returns a case to the staff because it lacks the re-
SOources to perform tha investigation, the staff should
Process the case in accordance with the guidance in
Section 7.5, 1f, alter reassessment, the staff deter~
mines that the case ghould be assigned a higher priority
and investigated, the Batter may be referred again to 0O
for investigation in accordance with the Procedures in MD
8.8,

If the case is not Appealed and an I investigation is
nNot warranted because of inadequate evidence to support
the complaint of discrimination and it does not appear
likely that the complaint is valid based on the relevant
information concerning the complaint, then the region
should close the case. The region should notify OF using
Form 29 in Appendix B, with a COpy to OI. The region
should also inform the licensee of the determination
that, under the circumstances of the case, the NPC is not
taking enforzement action. The sample letter included in
Appendix B (Form 28) should be used as a guide.

If the case hag been appealed, it should he pPut en hold
pending notification from DOL regarding the appeal
pProcess. Although an appeal must be filed within 5 days
©f the Area Office decision, DOL doces not notify the NRC
when a case is appealed. Therefore, the region should
contact DOL for this information.
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K For cases that were appealed, DOL will notify the NRC of
the recommended Decision and Order of the ALJ that:
(1) discrimination was found by the ALJ, (2) no discri-
mination was found by the ALJ, (3) the complaint was
conciliated befcre the AlLJ rendered a decision, (4) the
complaint was dismissed or procediral grounds, or (5) the
cCase was withdrawn,

: If “he ALJ finds discrimination, the region should
initiate the enforcement process. If the ALY finds no
discrimination, enforcement action will not normally be
taken. If the complaint was conciliated, dismissed on
procedural grounds, or withdrawn, the region should
evaluate the available avidence to determine whether
sufficient evidence exists to support enforcement action.

m. In those cases where enforcement action is issued based
on the ALJ decision, the licensee will not be required to
respond (including payment of any proposed civil penalty)
until 30 days after receipt of the Secretary of Labor’s
final decision. Notwithstanding this delay, the licensee
is required to respond regarding the potantial "chilling
effect™ within 30 days of receipt of the propesed
enforcement action.

7.7.4 NRC Enforcement Action

If enforcement action appears warranted for an act of discrim-
ination, the region should Prepare the appropriate enforcement
action cited against the applicable regulation (e.g., 10 CFR
19.20, 30.7, 40.7, %0.7, 60.9, 61.9, and 72.10). Alternative=-
ly, 10 CFR Part 50, Apperdix B, Criterion I may be cited
because it requires that persons and organizations performing
quality assurance functions shall have sufficient authority
and freedom to identify problems and provide solutions.

Supplement VII of the Enforcement Policy includes examples of
Severity Level I, II, and III violations based on discrimina~
tory acts by senior corporate management, plant management
above first-line supervision, and first-line supervision,
respectively. Notwithstanding an individual’s specific job
title, severity level categorization should consider several
factors, including the position of the individual relative in
the licensee’s organization, the individual’s responsibilities
relative to licensed activities, and the potential chilling
effect that the action could have on the licensee’s organiza-
tion based on the individual’s position. For example, a vice~
president in a licensee’s health physics department may also
be considered a particular employee’s first-line supervisor.
In this case, it would not be appropriate to categorize the
viclation at Severity Level III, because the example in
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Supplement VII is intended to address the actions of individu-
als in low level positions. In this case, the Severity level
may be more appropriately categorized at Severity Level I or
II depending on the circumstances of the case. Although the
examples in Supplement VII are proviced in an effort to make
categorizing the severity level easier, the final severity
level categorization for discrimination actions should reflect
the regulatory significance the cases represent.

" 7.8 Material False Statements and Completeness and
Accuracy of Information

Inaccurate and incomplete information is addressed in Section IX of
the Enforcement Policy. Supplement VII of the Enforcement Policy
Provides examples of violations involving inaccurate or incomplete
information or the failure to provide significant information.
Appendix H of this Manual contains the Statements of Consideration
for the Final Rule on Completeness and Accuracy of Information (52
FR 45362, December 31, 1987).

Submittal of incomplete and/or inaccurate information, whether or
not considered a material false statement, can result in the full
range of enforcement sanctions. The decision to view a communica~
tion failure as a material false statement will be made on a case-
by-case basis and will be reserved for egregious violations. All
enforcement actions based on material false statements require
Commission consultation.

The Commission recognizes that oral information may in some
situations be inherently less reliable than written submittals
because of the absence of an opportunity for reflection and
management review. However, the Commission must be able to rely on
oral communications from licenses officials concerning significant
information. Therefore, in determining whether to take enforcement
action for an oral statement, consideration may be given te such
factors as (1) the degree of knowladge that the communicator should
have had, regarding the matter, in view of his or her position,
training, and experience, (2) the Opportunity and time available
Prior to the communicatior to ensure the a- ‘uracy or completeness
of the information, (3) the degree of intent or negligence, if any,
involved, (4) the formality of the communication, (5) the reason-
ableness of NRC reliance on the information, (6) the importance of
the information that was wrong or not provided, and (7) the
reasonableness of the explanation for not providing complete and
Accurate information.

Absent at least careless disregard, an incomplete or inaccurate
unsworn oral statement normally will not be subject to enforcement
aAction unless it involves significant information provided by a
licersee official. However, enforcement action may be taken for an
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unintentionally incomplete or inaccurate oral statement provided to
the NRC by a licensee official or others on behalf of a licensee,
if a record of the oral information such as a transcript of the
communication or meeting summary containing the error was provided
to the licensee, thereby giving an opportun’'ty to correct the oral
information, and was not Subsequently correc-ed in a timely manner.

When a licensee has corrected inaccurate or incomplete information,
the decision to issue an NOV will consider the ease of detecting
the error, the tineliness of the correctien, whether the NRC or the
licensee identified the communication problem, and whether the NRC
relied on the information prior to the correction. Generally, if
the matter was promptly identified and corrected by the licensee
prior to reliance by the NRC, or before the NRC raised a question
about the information, no enforcement action will be taken for the
inaccurate or incomplete information. On the other hand, if the
misinformation is identified after the NRC relies on it, or after
some question isx raised regarding the accuracy of the information,
then some enforcement action rormally will be taken. If the
initial submittal was thought to be accurate when made but later
turned out to be erronecus because of newly discovered information
Or an advance in technology, a citation would not normally be
appropriate (if, when the new information became available, the
initial submittal was corrected).

The failurs to correct inaccurate or incomplete information which
the licensee knew of, but did not regard as significant, normally
will not constitute a separate viclation. Howvever, the circum-
stances surrounding the failure to correct may be relevant to
determiring enforcement action for the initial inaccurate or
incorplete statement. For example, an unintentionally inaccurate
or incomplet« submission may be treated as a more severe matter if
the licensee later determines that the initial submittal was in
error and does not correct it or if there were clear opportunities
to identify the error. If information not corrected was recognized
by a licensee as significant, a separate citation may be made for
the failure to provide significant information. In any event, in
serious cases where the licensee’s actions in not correcting or
providing information raise questions about its commitment to
‘' safety or its fundamental trustworthiness, the Commission may
exercise its authority to issue orders modifying, suspending, or
revoking the license. The Commission recognizes that enforcement
determinations must be made on a case-by~case basis, taking into
consideration the issues described in this section.
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